IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**COPY**

**FILED**

SHAE HUGHES

APPELLANT

VS.

NOV 20 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS

CASE NO. 2009-<sup>KA</sup>18-00155-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

---

E. TUCKER GORE  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT  
136 POPLAR STREET  
GREENVILLE, MS 38701  
TELEPHONE NO.: (662) 332-7523  
MSB 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAE HUGHES

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-TS-00155-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1.) When the State rested at the close of its case in chief, it had failed to prove that SHAE HUGHES had committed the crimes charged in the indictment.
- 2.) The Lower Court erred by failing to sustain Defendant's motion for directed verdict.
- 3.) The Lower Court's overruling of Defendant's motion directed verdict was against the interest of justice and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 4.) At the close of the evidence the State still failed to prove the facts beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 5.) The Lower Court erred by failing to grant Defendant's motion for judgment not withstanding the verdict of the jury, or, in the alternative, a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi where appellant SHAE HUGHES, was convicted of Count I of armed robbery for which he was sentenced to serve a term of forty (40) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. The Defendant was also convicted of Count II of aggravated assault and sentenced to serve twenty (20) years, which are to run consecutive to Count I. Additionally, the Court imposed court costs in the amount of \$284.000 and a bond fee in the amount of \$1,200.00

The State called as its witnesses: Sheriff deputies Jeffery Wiggington, Mack White, Percy Myles, Jake Williams and witnesses Diane Bryant, Christopher Bryant, Regina Humphrey, Tarika Cartlidge, Nathaniel Winder and Roscoe McCoy. The defendant Shae Hughes also took the stand.

Sheriff deputy Jeffery Wiggington testified that he responded about 2:30 a.m. on October 14, 2006 to a call about a shot person at Pearson's Trailer Park on Old Leland Road (R-23). He made contact with the Bryants who lived at Lot 13 and saw an injured person in their trailer. This person was bleeding from chin and was unable to talk to the deputy (R-25). DRMC arrived on scene, began treatment and transported McCoy back to hospital. Once deputies Mack White and Percy Myles arrived on scene Wiggington departed and went to DRMC (R-26). Wiggington did not know who had shot McCoy (R-28).

Next the State called Diane Bryant (R-29). Ms. Bryant stated she got home from work and was about to dose off when she was awakened by a banging at her door about 2:30 a.m. She opened her door and saw a man standing there bleeding;

she called 911 and then awoke her husband. She had never seen this man before (R-30), and she didn't know what happened or how it happened to this person (R-35).

Christopher Bryant, Ms. Bryant's husband, next took the stand. Mr. Bryant was awakened by his wife and a banging noise on his door. Ms. Bryant let the person in who was bleeding and gave him water and a towel (R-37). Mr. Bryant had no knowledge of how McCoy got hurt (R-39).

Next the state called deputy Mack White. White testified that he also responded to a call about a shot person at Pearson Trailer Park on the morning of October 14, 2006 (R-41). White tried to interview McCoy but he couldn't talk plainly (R-42). After DRMC left with McCoy, White started looking for a crime scene. He followed a blood trail from the Bryants' steps down Raceway Road a little ways that lead to a spot in a ditch in front of a volunteer fire station. In the ditch, White saw a \$1 dollar bill, a \$20 dollar bill and a chap stick (R-44). White then stood by until investigator Percy Myles arrived on scene. White did not know anything about who shot McCoy (R-49).

Regina Humphrey then took the stand for the state. Ms. Humphrey is the manager at Double Quick in Leland. Humphrey produced a surveillance tape from the store that was entered into evidence as State's Ex S-2 (R-52).

Major Percy Myles of the Washington County Sheriff's Department was called to the stand. On the morning of October 14, 2006, Myles received a call from Corporal White to meet him at the scene. Upon his arrival at the scene on Raceway Road, White showed Myles the blood on the road and ditch (R-54). Myles took pictures, which were entered into evidence as S3A-MC (R-56). Myles then collected

the \$1 and \$20 dollar bills, the sticks of gum and the chap stick (R-56). After spending 15 minutes at scene, Myles went to DRMC (R-58).

At the hospital, McCoy told Myles he was in Leland at the Double Quick trying to catch a ride. He saw Little Man (Nathaniel Winder) and asked him for a ride but Winder told him to catch a ride with his cousin (Shae Hughes) (R-60). He gets into the car with four other people and they take Old Leland Road back to Greenville but suddenly turn on Old Leland Road. Then the guy in the middle of the back seat who McCoy was sitting by (Darian Hughes) pushed him out of car (R-60) and that man then got out of the car (R-61). McCoy said the man in the middle of the back then took his Nike shoe and tried to take his money (R-62). The interview ended at that time and McCoy was transported to UMC in Jackson (R-66).

Myles was then shown the videotape, S-2, that was retrieved from Leland Double Quick. Myles then identified McCoy, Shae Hughes, and Darian Hughes, Shae's cousin, coming in and out of Double Quick about 2:00 a.m. on the morning of October 14, 2006 (R-65).

Myles then compiled a photo lineup (S-4A thru S-4G) and went to UMC to show McCoy (R-68). McCoy identified first Shae Hughes and then later Darian Hughes (R-70). Darian Hughes was identified as the person sitting in the middle of the back next to McCoy (R-71) and Shae Hughes as the driver (R-72). There were bullet fragments from McCoy's jaw that were collected from UMC (S-6), (R-74).

On cross-examination Myles was questioned about the extent of his training and the importance of accurately recording witnesses statements in his offense reports

(R-77). Myles testified that none of the evidence collected from the crime scene were checked to see if Shae Hughes' fingerprints were on them.

Myles was then shown his offense report in which he wrote that during the interview of McCoy at DRMC in Greenville that McCoy said that it was the man on the back seat (Darian Hughes) that pulled a pistol on him in the car and demanded his money. After McCoy told Darian Hughes that he didn't have any money that it was Darian Hughes that shot him while they were on the back seat (R-81). McCoy said it a second time to Myles that the man on the back seat (Darian Hughes) shot him (R-82).

Next, Investigator Myles was shown his sworn probable cause statement which is presented to a Judge to obtain an arrest warrant. In that sworn statement Myles states that Roscoe McCoy told him that the man in the middle of the back seat was the man who shot him (R-84).

Next Myles was shown again the photo lineup that he put together. All of the pictures in the lineup are relatives of Nathaniel Winder (who testifies for the State) all of whom are shorter than six feet and none of whom remotely look like or similar to Shae Hughes who also is 6'2" tall (R-86, 87).

Myles admits that the Sheriff Department has no physical evidence such as fingerprints or a gun that ties Shae Hughes to the crime (R-89).

Deputy Jake Williams was the next witness called by the State. Williams helped to a degree with the investigation. He took Shae Hughes' statement in which Hughes said he was in Leland on the morning in question driving a white Grand Am which belonged to a friend and that three (3) other people were in the car with him

(R-102). Williams took pictures of the car which were introduced into evidence as S-7A thru E (R-106).

Charity Howard then takes the stand for the State. Ms. Howard testified that she knows Shae Hughes through a friend of hers, Myesha Jones. Myesha and Hughes came to Howard's work place at about 10:30 October 13, 2006 and borrowed her white Grand Am so they could go out (R-110). Shae Hughes brought her car back at 6:30 the next morning and she dropped him off at his home (R-112).

Nathaniel Winder was next called by the State. Winder stated that he had known Roscoe McCoy for about fifteen (15) years and Shae Hughes for about eight (8) years (R-115). Winder said he came to Leland on October 14, 2006 at about 1:00 a.m. He went to Club Vedio and then to Double Quick. Winder testified he saw Shae Hughes, Darian Hughes and Tarika Cartlidge together at Double Quick in a white Grand Am. He also saw Roscoe McCoy who asked him for a ride to Greenville. Winder told McCoy he could ride with his cousin Shae Hughes. Later he saw McCoy get in the car with Hughes and the others he was with (R-118).

Winder left Leland and went to the Huddle House in Greenville. After Winder got to Huddle House, Shae Hughes, Darian Hughes and Myesha came in a short time later (R-123). Winder went home and a couple of days later the Sheriff's Department came and arrested him and questioned him three (3) different times until he told them what they wanted to hear (R-124). Winder was charged and now is testifying for the State (R-125 - 127).

The State next called Tarika Cartlidge. Ms. Cartlidge knows Shae Hughes due to the fact that they are cousins (R-129). She also knows Darian Hughes (R-130).

On October 13, 2006, she went with a girl friend to a club in Leland and stayed until it was closed. Cartlidge then got in a car with Shae and Myesha and went to Double Quick. When they left Double Quick it was Shae driving Myesha up front Cartlidge behind Shae, Darian Hughes in the middle of the back seat, and next to him was McCoy (R-135).

The car traveled down Old Leland Road and turned on Raceway Road when Darian and the guy in back began arguing and fighting (R-135). Shae pulled over, got out and then pulled the dude and Darian out of car and closed the door. Shae was trying to break up the fight when she heard a gun shot go off. Shae and Darian got back in the car but she did not see either one with a gun (R-137).

Later on Cartlidge gave a statement to the police that she had seen Shae rob the man and shoot him in the face. Cartlidge then testified that the reason she told the sheriff's office that was to stop them from hassling her. She testified that in reality that was what she heard on the street and that she did not see Shae shoot the man or take his Nike shoes (R-137-139).

On cross-examination, Cartlidge confirmed that she said what she said in her statement was to get the sheriff's department to leave her alone and stop pressuring her (R-141). She also testified that someone from the District Attorney's office told her she had to testify like what she had said in her statement (R-141). Cartlidge went on to testify that Shae had never threatened her (R-142).

The State then called Roscoe McCoy to testify. On October 13, 2006, Mr. McCoy caught a ride with a friend in Arcola and went to Club Vedio in Leland (R-150). Around 1:30 a.m. on the 14<sup>th</sup>, McCoy left the club and walked to Double Quick

where he saw a friend, Nathaniel Winder. McCoy told Winder he needed a ride to Greenville, so they made an arrangement for McCoy to ride with Nathaniel's cousin Shae Hughes (R-152-153). They got in the car and took Old Leland Road toward Greenville. When they get to Raceway Road, McCoy says they turn off and stop and the driver gets out to use the bathroom. Then McCoy claims the driver pulled him out of the car while the guy in the middle back pushed him out. McCoy says he falls in a ditch and the driver puts a gun to his head and demands money. At the same time, guy in middle is searching McCoy and takes his Nike shoes. McCoy testified the driver then shot him in the chin (R-154-157). McCoy then testifies that S-5 is a picture of the guy in middle of back seat (Darian Hughes) and that S4-B is the driver (Shae Hughes) (R-162).

On cross-examination, McCoy denies ever making the statement to Major Myles that it was the man in the middle of the back seat who pulled the pistol and shot him (R-164-166). Also, McCoy was shown the paper he had written at UMC and he testified the 5'9" he wrote was the height of the two who robbed him (R-167). Shae Hughes is 6'1" or 2" (R-86, 87). The State then rested its case (R-171). Court denies defendant motion for directed verdict (R-172).

The Defense then calls the defendant Shae Hughes. On October 13<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup>, Hughes resided in Memphis, Tennessee, but was in Greenville on family business. Hughes came into possession of Charity Howard's white Grand Am on October 13, 2006 by way of his girlfriend Myesha Jones (R-176). Hughes, Myesha and Darian Hughes left Greenville and went to Club Vedio located in Leland (R-177). Once the club closed at 2:00 a.m. on the 14<sup>th</sup> the three (3) plus Tarika Cartlidge went to Double

Quick (R-178). At Double Quick Shae saw his cousin Nathaniel Winder and agreed with him to give Roscoe McCoy a ride to Greenville. The five (5) of them left Double Quick and took Old Leland Road towards Greenville. As Hughes turned onto Raceway Road, McCoy and Darian were fighting on the back seat. Hughes pulls over, gets out and pulls McCoy and Darian out of the car and all three (3) fall in a ditch. While they were tussling a shot went off. Hughes didn't know where the shot came from but he and Darian jumped up, got in the car and drove away. (R-180).

Hughes then took Cartlidge to a club and he, Myesha and Darian went to the Huddle House where he saw his brother, sister and Nathaniel Winder. After a while, Hughes and company left the Huddle House, dropped Darian off and returned Charity's car. Hughes was dropped off at his sister's house and later that day returned to Memphis (R-181, 182).

Hughes was later arrested and gave a statement to the police. Hughes testified that he did not tell the police about the events on Raceway Road because he was trying to protect his cousin Darian Hughes (R-183). After cross-examination, the defense rested (R-191).

After receiving the jury instructions from the Court (R-200 thru 209) and hearing closing arguments of counsel (R-210 thru 226) the jury returned a verdict against Shae Hughes wherein they found Hughes guilty of Count I armed robbery and Count II aggravated assault (R 227 thru 228).

As a result of Hughes' convictions, the Court at 10:40 a.m. on January 23, 2009 sentenced Hughes to a term of 40 years in custody as to Count I and 20 years as

to Count II consecutive to Count I; payment of court costs of \$284 and a bond fee of \$1,200 (R-223 thru 234).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Shae Hughes argues that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict of the jury and the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence; therefore, the Lower Court erred, by failing to sustain Defendant's motion for directed verdict and to grant Defendant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury, or in the alternative, a new trial.

The victim in this case, Roscoe McCoy, gave an interview to sheriff department investigator Major Percy Myles shortly after this incident occurred. McCoy told Major Myles twice that it was the man in the middle back seat (Darian Hughes) who pulled the gun out, took his Nike shoes and shot McCoy on the back seat. Major Myles recorded McCoy's statement in his investigative report. Myles was so impressed with McCoy's statement that he included it in his sworn probable cause statement that was presented to a Judge to obtain an arrest warrant.

Based on the inconsistencies, not only between the witnesses, but also within their own testimony and statements, Hughes argues that his conviction is in error.

### ARGUMENT

When the sufficiency and weight of the evidence are questioned, the allegation is really being directed against the accuracy of the jury's verdict. King v.

State, 798 So. 2d 1258, 60 (Miss. 2001) (citing May v. State, 460 So. 2d 778, 780-82 (Miss. 1994)).

On the issue of legal sufficiency, a reversal can only occur when evidence of one or more of the elements of the charged offense is such that “reasonable and fair minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.” Dickey v. State, 819 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Miss. 2002) The standard of review for a denial of a directed verdict, peremptory instruction and JNOV are identical. Coleman v. State, 697 So. 2d 777, 787 (Miss. 1997) In McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993) this Court held that a motion for JNOV, motion for directed verdict and a request for peremptory instruction challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence.

It is well established that matters regarding the weight of the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. Brown v. State, 829 So. 2d 93, 103 (Miss. 2002) (citing Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984); Danner v. State, 748 So. 2d 844, 846 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) A motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. Sheffield v. State, 749 So. 2d 123, 127 (Miss. 1999) in Winston v. State, 626 So. 2d 197, 100 (Miss. App. 1998) (citing Brook v. State, 695 So. 2d 593, 594 (Miss. 1997) the Court stated:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury’s verdict is quiet limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence—not just that supporting the case for the prosecution—and the like most consistent with the verdict. We give the prosecution the benefit of inferences that may be reasonably being drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached authority to disturb. McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993); Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987); Smith v. State, 503

So. 2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987); Smith v. State, \_\_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Miss. 2003) 2001-KA-01235-SCT (Emphasis added)

The lower Court having heard this testimony and being aware of the major discrepancies as to the offense for which HUGHES is charged should have granted a new trial. Gleaton v. State, 716 So. 2d 1083 (Miss. 1998) Failure to grant a new trial to HUGHES would result in an unconscionable injustice by allowing the verdict to stand. Groseclose v. State, 440 So. 2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983); Danner v. State, 748 So. 2d 844, 846 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Collier v. State, 711 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998) the verdict entered by this jury is clearly a result of prejudice, and is manifestly against the weight of the creditable evidence. Cromeans v. State, 261 So. 2d 453 (Miss. 1972); Marr v. State, 248 Miss. 281, 159 So. 2d 167 (1963).

The testimony in this case had major discrepancies. As stated above, the alleged victim, Roscoe McCoy, twice told Major Myles that the man in the middle of the back seat (Darian Hughes) was the one who pulled a gun and shot him. McCoy then testifies that he never said those things to Myles. Tarika Cartlidge testified that neither Shae Hughes nor Darian Hughes had a gun.

Also, McCoy testified that at UMC he wrote that the two men were both 5'9". The photo lineup put together by Major Myles clearly shows that Shae Hughes is 6'2" however Darian Hughes is approximately 5'9".

### CONCLUSION

SHAE HUGHES submits that based on the foregoing authorities that his conviction before the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi and the sentence imposed as a result thereof should be reversed and his case remanded.

SHAE HUGHES

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-TS-00155-COA