IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAE HUGHES

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0155

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant raises five issues on appeal, all of which ultimately question whether there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict and whether the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. As such, the State of Mississippi will respond to those issues as follows: THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of October 13, 2006, Roscoe McCoy rode with a friend to Club Video in Leland, Mississippi. (Transcript p. 149 - 150). Around 1:00 a.m., the friend informed Mr. McCoy that he was having issues with his vehicle and that he needed to leave. (Transcript p. 150). Mr. McCoy told him to go ahead and planned to catch a ride with someone else. (Transcript p. 150). Around 1:20 a.m., Mr. McCoy walked to the Double Ouick in Leland and saw "Little Man" aka

Nathaniel Winder. (Transcript p. 151). Mr. McCoy asked Mr. Winder if he could ride with him to Greenville. (Transcript p. 152). Mr. Winder responded that his car was full but indicated that it was "cool" if he rode with some people in a white Grand Am who were also at the Double Quick. (Transcript p. 152). Mr. McCoy got in the back passenger side of the white Grand Am. (Transcript p. 153). At the time, Mr. McCoy did not know any of the people in the car, but it was later determined that the Appellant, Shae Hughes, was the driver of the car, his girlfriend Myesha was seated in the front passenger seat, Terika Carlidge was seated in the back seat behind the driver, and Darian Hughes was seated in the middle of the back seat. (Transcript p. 152 and 179). After they had been driving a bit, the Appellant said something a long the lines of "Man, I'm going to shoot me somebody, man. I got this .38. I'm going to shoot me somebody." (Transcript p. 154). Mr. McCoy testified at trial as follows regarding what happened next:

When we got to Raceway Road, he [the Appellant] kind of like said he had to use the restroom, so he got out of the driver's seat and come around toward the back and open the door and grabbed me by my shirt, which I had a jersey on; and the guy who was in the back with me, he pushed me out. And the ditch was sitting right here, so I slid down in the ditch. And that's when he pulled the gun to my forehead like that. . . . He [the Appellant] said, 'give me your money, because I know you got the money, because they already told me.' which I don't know who. He had to be referring to Nate because Nate the only person that knew me, really. And when he said that the guy that was in the back, he got out and started to search me. And as he was searching me - - - - as he was going into my right pocket, I know I had about 20, \$22 and some gum and some lip chap. So I reached in my pocket and grabbed it and balled it up. And as he started searching me, he turned me over. When he turned me over, he checked my back pockets. Didn't see nothing. Then he said, 'he ain't got no money.' So the driver said, 'man I know he got that money. Check his shoe.' So when he checked my shoe, he too - - the guy in the back took my shoes off. . . . And he checked my shoes, and wasn't no money in my shoes. So the next thing he said, 'I'm going to shoot this MF anyway.' So by that time now, I kind of left my head up, and the gun went off and shot me right there in the chin. . . . Well, the guy in the backseat still had my shoes, so they - - and the driver. They got in the car and pulled off. I say about a minute I laid there, and got up and walked to this trailer house and knocked on the trailer door; and the people come open the door. And then they called the police 9-1-1, and the ambulance came.

(Transcript p. 154 - 157).

The Appellant was arrested, tried, and convicted of armed robbery and aggravated assault. He was sentenced to serve forty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for the armed robbery conviction and was sentenced to serve twenty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for the aggravated assault conviction with both sentences to run consecutively.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied the Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as there was sufficient evidence establishing each element of both armed robbery and aggravated assault. The trial court also properly denied the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial as the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

The Appellant argues that "the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict of the jury and the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence; therefore, the Lower Court erred, by failing to sustain Defendant's motion for directed verdict and to grant Defendant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury, or in the alternative, a new trial." (Appellant's Brief p. 10).

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

The Appellant argues that "when the State rested at the close of its case in chief, it had failed to prove that Shae Hughes had committed the crimes charged in the indictment," that the trial court "erred by failing to sustain [the Appellant's] motion for directed verdict," that "at the close of the evidence the State still failed to prove the facts beyond a reasonable doubt" and that the trial court "erred by failing to grant [the Appellant's] motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the

jury." (Appellant's Brief p. 1). "Motions for directed verdicts and motions for JNOV are both for the purpose of challenging the legal sufficiency of the evidence." *Nason v. State*, 840 So.2d 788, 792 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993)). This Court has previously set forth the standard of review with regard to sufficiency of the evidence issues as follows:

The sufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law is viewed and tested in a light most favorable to the State. The credible evidence consistent with [the defendant's] guilt must be accepted as true. The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence.... We are authorized to reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.

Graham v. State, 861 So.2d 1053, 1054 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Beard v. State, 837 So.2d 235 (Miss. Ct. App.2003)). With this standard in mind, the record clearly establishes that there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict with regard to both counts.

The Appellant was found guilty of armed robbery in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79 which states as follows:

Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be guilty of robbery and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for life in the state penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the jury; and in cases where the jury fails to fix penalty at imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary the court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the state penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

As set forth in the "Statement of the Facts" section above, Mr. McCoy testified that the Appellant stuck a .38 to his head and told him to give him all his money. He further testified that the Appellant and Darian Hughes drove away with his Nike tennis shoes after they were unable to find any money on him. Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence establishing each of the elements of armed

robbery.

The Appellant was also found guilty of aggravated assault in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-7(2) which states as follows:

A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he

- (a) attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly, or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life or
- (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm. . . .

Again, as set forth above in the "Statement of Facts," Mr. McCoy testified that the Appellant shot him in the face. He further testified that he was hospitalized for two weeks and underwent several surgeries as a result of that injury. (Transcript p. 158). Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence establishing each of the elements of aggravated assault.

As such, there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict or his Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict.

THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The Appellant also argues that the trial court erred by failing to grant the Appellant's motion for new trial. (Appellant's Brief p. 1). A motion for a new trial simply challenges the weight of the evidence. *Jones v. State*, 920 So.2d 465, 470 (Miss. 2006). The appellate standard of review for claims that a conviction is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is as follows:

[This court] must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. A new trial will not be ordered unless the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an "unconscionable injustice."

Pierce v. State, 860 So.2d 855 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Smith v. State, 802 So.2d 82, 85-86

(Miss. 2001)). On review, the Court must accept as true all evidence favorable to the State. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993).

With regard to this issue, the Appellant argues that "the testimony in this case had major discrepancies." (Appellant's Brief p. 12). However, Mississippi law indicates that the appellate court "does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." *Nason*, 840 So.2d at 792. The *Nason* Court further noted that:

Jurors are permitted, indeed have the duty, to resolve the conflicts in the testimony they hear. They may believe or disbelieve, accept or reject the utterances of any witness. No formula dictates the manner in which jurors resolve conflicting testimony into finding of fact sufficient to support their verdict. That resolution results from the jurors hearing and observing the witnesses as they testify, augmented by the composite reasoning of twelve individuals sworn to return a true verdict. A reviewing court cannot and need not determine with exactitude which witness or what testimony the jury believed or disbelieved in arriving at its verdict. It is enough that the conflicting evidence presented a factual dispute for jury resolution.

Id. (quoting Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983)) (emphasis added). Furthermore, "the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses, and the jury's decision based on conflicting evidence will not be set aside where there is substantial and believable evidence supporting the verdict." Id. (quoting Billiot v. State, 454 So.2d 445, 463 (Miss. 1984). Accordingly, any conflict in the testimony is a jury question and their findings are not to be set aside where there is substantial evidence to support the verdict. The record in this case clearly indicates that there was substantial and believable evidence to support the verdicts. As such, the trial court properly denied the Appellant's motion for new trial.